1950

# Mike Dragos and Milka Dragos v. Teddy G. Russell and Manilla Russell : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action in equity in the District Court for Salt Lake County between adjoining property owners to quiet title to contested property between them, to decree that certain buildings and sewer line construction by defendants are an unlawful encumbrance and obstruction on plaintiffs' property, to compel defendants and appellants to remove the alleged building and construction encroachments from the land claimed by plaintiffs and respondents, and for damages for the alleged trespass. Defendants filed a counterclaim for an alleged

trespass by plaintiffs and respondents during the period of defendants' alleged trespass over the contested boundary line and upon the contested property between the parties. The district court struck out the counterclaim and awarded judgment and decree to the plaintiffs.

Teddy Russell and his wife, Manilla Russell, who are defendants and appellants herein, purchased and took possession of the State Tourist Court at 3114 South State Street in Salt Lake County, Utah, during the spring or summer of 1943. Their property was some 65.6 feet more or less in frontage and extended all the way through the block in an east-west direction from State Street to Main Street. Mike Dragos and his wife, plaintiffs and respondents herein, were owners of and in possession of an adjoining piece of land directly to the north of the Russell property for the full distance westward from State Street of some 495 feet. It is the common boundary between the Russell and Dragos properties along this 495 foot strip which is in dispute.

When the Russells moved onto their property in 1943, a fence was situated between the Russell and Dragos properties for the full distance of the said 495 feet, marking the line between the properties. (Tr. 60). This fence began at the sidewalk on State Street and proceeded westward some 87 feet or more as a wire and post fence. The next 37 feet westward were of wire or wood, and the balance of the fence westward was of posts, barbed wire and wooden boards. (Tr. 61, 62). The rear of the Dragos property westward from State Street

was located, or approximately marked, by the west end post of the fence. (Tr. 163, Def. Exh. 12).

It is uncontroverted that the same fence was located and fixed between the two properties as early as 1911 and 1912 as the boundary line between the properties, and was so considered by all owners and occupiers of the two properties until the latter part of 1948 or early in 1949. (Tr. 63, 82, 139, 140, 147-154, 173, 174). Indeed, there being no fence or boundary indicator or monument for 165 feet west from State Street, and the exact boundary being unlocated and in doubt, at least the east 165 feet of the fence was extended eastward in 1911 from the older western section by the owners of both properties, by mutual agreement to locate and fix the boundary line between the properties, there being no otherwise fixed or known boundary, (Tr. 169) and the actual line being uncertain. (Tr. 130, 135, 139, 148, 149). The uncertainty of the line in 1911 and 1912 is conclusively shown by the fact that the fence, believed to be established on the boundary line, was at no place located on the true survey line, (Def. Exh. 17), (Tr. 51, 52, 62, 98), but varied or meandered slightly north of due west. (Tr. 63), (Def. Exh. 17). The adjoining owners, by agreement, thereby confirmed and established the entire old fence line with its eastward extension as the boundary between the properties which were later to be owned by appellants and respondents respectively. (Tr. 134, 135, 137, 138, 139, 148, 149). A joint water well was put down on the agreed line as established by the parties, or very near thereto. (Tr. 134, 135, 161, 162). Both the

fence and the well were constructed by the joint efforts and upon joint determination of location, by the adjoining landowners at the time, and trees were planted all along the fence line. These facts are also uncontroverted. (Tr. 6, 25, 69, 134-139, 161).

Substantial portions of the old fence, as established in 1911 and 1912, remained in place at the time of the trial of the cause, (Tr. 6, 7, 8, 33, 85, 96, 107-111, 120, 131, 136, 145, 146, 151, 152, 154-164, 172, 181, 188—lines 15-27, Tr. 193-194, 197), except for the cinder block section of some ten feet placed south of the old fence line and eastward from the east end of the tourist court cabins by Mike Dragos in 1948 or 1949. (Tr. 32, 86). Otherwise, its entire original location was marked by the remaining portions, a remaining tree of those planted about 1912, old power poles, a well, and other fence posts. (Tr. 30—lines 27-30; Tr. 31, 32, 34, Def. Exh. 6, Tr. 37, 64, 65, Def. Exh. 1-16; Tr. 69, 70, 85-96, 107-111, 118, 135, 136, 139, 140, 145, 146, 147, 151, 152, 154, 155, 157, 158, 162, 163, 166, 169, 193, 194, 197). From time to time boards have been added to the fence and removed from it, and a part of the fence was destroyed by fire in 1944 or 1945, but was immediately rebuilt at the same place. (Tr. 71-74). Regardless of all other markers or monuments, the distance north from the line of cabins to the old fence line is definitely marked beyond all doubt by the remaining tree which both plaintiffs and defendants admit is still in place and was located along the fence line exactly at the south edge thereof. (Tr. 6, 25, 71, 89, 90, 109, 147, 156, 157; Def.



Exh. 14, 15). The details of location of the old fence in 1911 and 1912 and its continuous location in the same place for more than thirty years and until just before the trial, are proved by the references given above to the testimony of the actual residents and owners of both adjoining pieces of property through every year from 1911 to 1949. Many of these witnesses are completely independent persons with no interest in this action.

From 1911 and 1912 until late in 1944 or 1945, it is uncontroverted that all property owners on both sides of the fence used the properties right up to the fence line on either side of the old fence for their various proprietary purposes. (Tr. 44, 135, 139, 146, 147, 148, 150, 151, 156, 159; Def. Exh. 16; Tr. 174). There is no evidence at all that from 1912 until 1944 or 1945 any boundary other than the old fence was known or considered as far as anyone who testified knew or could tell. Following 1945, and until the fall of 1948, the evidence is in some conflict on the matter of anyone having knowledge or any cause to suspect the boundary line might be other than the old fence line. However, the plaintiff Mike Dragos testified during the trial that he too considers the old fence to constitute his boundary line, (Tr. 18, 29, 30) and the conflict is solely found in the uncorroborated testimony of the two plaintiffs.

In 1928, Edward B. McCabe and Mary McCabe, who then owned the State Tourist Court property, constructed a line of tourist cabins along and against the

old fence. (Tr. 171). There is no record or evidence of any objection or protest to this by anyone, (Tr. 174), and the McCabes considered that they effected all of their construction on their own property. (Tr. 174, 175). These cabins were of wood and were built upon concrete foundations laid to within some six to nine inches of the old fence line as to the north-south sections and about three feet south of the fence as to the east-west sections. (Tr. 67, 155, 165, 171, 172). A few extra such foundations were poured by the McCabes on the west end of their line of original cabins to permit future construction. (Tr. 175). In the process of their original construction, the McCabes extended the back or north end of the garage portions of their cabins, located between dwelling units, all the way northward to the old fence itself, and constituted the fence the rear wall of the garages. (Tr. 108; Def. Exh. 14; Tr. 159, 160, 165, 197). This was done by nailing boards to the old fence posts (Tr. 173, 176) to make such portions of the fence the rear wall or panel of the garages. The remainder of the old fence back of the cabins and between the garage sections was also boarded up by the McCabes, leaving some three feet of space between the backs of the cabins and the old fence to permit space for cleaning behind the cabins and to make room for shade trees, (Tr. 154, 172), and to avoid the nuisance of a cow and chickens then on the adjoining property to the north. (Tr. 148, 154, 156.) The McCabes never moved the fence in any particular, (Tr. 172, 182), nor did the Russells change its position to the north, or at all. (Tr. 73, 74, 75, 120, 154, 155, 194).

The Russells thereafter pulled most of the originally planted trees situated along the south edge of the old fence, but left one tree in place, (Tr. 69, 70, 71; Def. Exh. 7, 15), and separately and by units, renovated the cabins, completing some in cinder block and concrete (Tr. 66), but limiting this construction to the location of McCabe's concrete foundations laid in 1928 south of the old fence line. (Tr. 67, 68, 108, 109; Def. Exh. 14; Tr. 126, 128). The Russells installed some of the wooden cabins on the old concrete foundations at the west end of McCabes' completed cabins. (Tr. 66, 67, 89-91, 95; Def. Exh. 8, 11, 15). Various units were completed from time to time until August of 1948, when the last unit to be renovated was completed. The five on the east end were completed by May of 1946. (Tr. 68, 69). As the various units were completed, the Russells installed a permanent tile and metal sewer line along the north edge of the line of cabins. (Def. Exh. 10, Tr. 93-95, Tr. 68). All construction was at least six to eight inches south of the old fence line, which the Russells, in good faith, continued to consider the boundary line between the parties. (Tr. 15, 47, 82, 83, 114, 124, 125, 126, 127). It is uncontroverted that extensive and costly construction work involving expense to the Russells of many thousands of dollars was completed by way of renovation of these cabins and installation of a sewer of a permanent nature, (Tr. 66, 110, Defs. Exh. 1-15) all with full knowledge of the respondents herein, (Tr. 14-15) and the only important conflict in the evidence arises upon the point as to whether or not the respondents made any protest to appellants or had any idea the boundary

line might be other than the fence line, during the entire period of construction by the Russells. (Tr. 63). However, the evidence would seem overwhelming that the respondents always considered the old fence the actual boundary line between themselves and the Russells. (Tr. 18, 29) and did not object to the location of the fence and the construction by the defendants. (Tr. 29, Lines 8-25; Tr. 190-191). The respondent, Mike Dragos, testified that when Russell removed part of the boards and some posts during renovation construction of the cabins, he re-installed the fence at the special request of Dragos, to which Dragos never did object (Tr. 190-191) until 1949 after the survey was made and trouble developed between the parties. (Tr. 191). The respondents considered that even the sewer line along the north side of the renovated cabins was south of the established boundary line, and Mike Dragos so admits. (Tr. 34, 35, 36, Def. Exh. 3).

While the Dragos testimony is that they considered the Russells to be clearly encroaching upon their property for the entire period of time since renovation of these costly and permanent buildings began, that is, for several years, (Tr. 14, 15) and so informed the Russells and demanded that they move back, yet they actually did absolutely nothing during this several year period to protect their property against the alleged known encroachment, and it is a fact, admitted by the plaintiff Mike Dragos, that in August and September of 1948, as the sewer line became completed, Mike Dragos bargained for and arranged with Teddy Russell that if Russell

would permit him to connect his septic tank to Russell's sewer, Dragos would pay Russell the sum of \$25.00 cash for the right to connect and would pay Russell's man to make the connection. This was accomplished in good friendship and the money paid to Russell by Mike Dragos in the Russell home over a glass of beer (Tr. 35, 36, 79, 80) about Christmas time, three months after the connection was made. During none of these negotiations did respondents object or demand defendants to move any of their construction. There is no conflict on this vital point, nor is it otherwise explained. It is also the uncontroverted evidence that following the initial connection, Mike Dragos in 1949 again approached Teddy Russell to ask permission to connect the Dragos Tavern lavatories to the Russell sewer line, and Dragos agreed to pay a further \$25.00 for the right to connect, but due solely to difficulties of proper drainage Dragos did not ultimately make the connection. (Tr. 80, 81). The parties were still, at the time of this second agreement, apparently good friends, (Tr. 75) and Russell regularly patronized the Dragos Tavern. (Tr. 81). This tavern, built by Dragos in 1948 by the same contractor who had worked on the Russells' cabins along the fence in the beginning of the renovation, was so constructed that its walls somewhat paralleled the old fence line and in so doing, wandered considerably to the north of the later determined east-west survey line. The uncontroverted testimony is that the tavern was purposely so built to stay in line with the old fence. (Def. Exh. 2, 3; Tr. 35, 111-112).

Appellants' evidence is all to the effect that the first objection made by the respondents to Russells concerning any claim that Russells were encroaching upon the Dragos property came in April of 1949. (Tr. 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82). Russell had experienced his first difficulty with Mike Dragos earlier in the spring of 1949 when he complained to Dragos that customers of the Dragos tavern enterprise were continually blocking up one of Russell's driveways into his property. The fact of this difficulty is uncontroverted. (Tr. 76, 81). About this same time the respondents decided to sell their property, and for the first time had it surveyed. (Tr. 52, 53). The Dragos survey, made according to the Dragos deed, occurred in April of 1949 (Tr. 16), and disclosed that while the fence was located very near to the survey line between the properties at the State Street end of the fence, a very gradual and slight difference developed as the fence proceeded westerly—such that the west end of the fence lay about 2.7 feet north of the survey line. The survey also showed that the cabins renovated of cinder block, while wholly and completely south of the old fence line, meandered slightly north as they proceeded westward approximately parallel with the old fence, from a position just south of the survey line at the east end of the cinder block cabins to about 2.1 feet north of the survey line at the west end of the cinder block cabins. (Def. Exh. 17). The width of the sewer line was 6 inches, immediately north of the cabins. The balance of the cabins westward all appear to be not only south of the fence but also south of the survey line, except for old garage sections going to the fence. (Def.

Exh. 17). Following the Dragos survey and the filing of this complaint, Russell caused a survey to be made of his north line, which the parties agreed, is virtually identical with the Dragos survey, and a chart and certificate of survey showing details of the old fence line and the cabins to the southward, all drawn to scale, have been received in evidence as one of the exhibits for the appellants. (Def. Exh. 17).

In 1948 after all renovation and construction was complete, Russell had some question about his south line and had it surveyed. (Tr. 110-111). He was not at that time in any way concerned about his north line and there is no evidence that he was aware at that time of any discrepancy with his north line. (Tr. 123, 125-126, 165).

All the evidence, except for the unsubstantiated testimony of the respondents, shows that none of Russell's renovation and sewer construction proceeded north of the old McCabe foundations or within inches of the old fence line. The Russells proceeded entirely in good faith (Tr. 15, 47, 48, 124, 127) and at great cost to themselves. The Dragos stood by and did absolutely nothing during the entire period of construction, a period of about five years and according to some of the evidence, seven years, except to approve and recognize the full propriety of even the sewer location, the northernmost part of the work done by the Russells. The weight of the evidence shows that it was not until trouble developed over the respondents' tavern operation and respondents

contemplated selling their land that either respondents or appellants or any of their predecessors in title back to 1912 had any idea that a survey line might be located differently from the fence line, which since 1912 at least, had been the established and respected boundary line between the properties (Tr. 18).

Actual measurement of the width of the Dragos property at its west end and northward from the west end of the old fence to the west end of the fence on the north side of the Dragos land is not only the full 66 feet claimed by the respondents but  $67\frac{1}{2}$  feet. (Tr. 83, 84, 85. Def. Exh. 12). The respondents thus not only now claim their north fence as their boundary line but claim an additional 2.7 feet south of the old fence at its west end and thereby giving them not 66 but 70.2 feet in width of property at their west end. (Tr. 23, 24, 54). The respondents state that all they claim is 66 feet of land at the east end and also the west end of their property. (Tr. 23, 24, 25, 54). They further claim only 66 feet south from their north fence line which they claim is correctly positioned. (Tr. 37, 40). Mike Dragos and Milka Dragos then testified that their only claim against the Russells was on account of construction work north of the old fence line (Tr. 27, 30, 51, 52), and Milka Dragos claims one cannot now even tell where the old fence was located. (Tr. 49, 52). The respondent, Mike Dragos, also claims he owns the well drilled jointly on or near the old fence line in 1911. (Tr. 32, Def. Exh. 3, 6). Notwithstanding the testimony of respondents that the old fence did not reach northward to the power



poles, and permitted them to pass between the fence and the poles, the uncontradicted testimony is that respondents in building their own fence, stopped short of one of the power poles to permit passage north of the pole through a gate; (Tr. 191, 192-3) and further one of the occupants of the Russell property in 1911 testified the old fence was "right next to the pole" and "was up against it" and had not been changed when she moved away in 1928. (Tr. 92-3, 131, 136, 140). It is apparent that plaintiffs are not at all clear as to what they should claim and just how they are injured.

During the first few months of 1949, the plaintiffs and respondents removed and changed a portion of the old fence running eastward from the tourist cabins to a point and line south of the former location of the fence and then piled on the land thus gained, quantities of brick, blocks and other material, thereby encroaching and trespassing upon land of appellants. Appellants' counterclaim for this cause of action was stricken by the Court upon motion of respondents.

Following entry of the judgment herein, defendants filed their motion for a new trial which the court by its subsequent order denied in toto. The motion was based upon:

- (1) newly discovered evidence which though material was not capable of discovery through any exercise of reasonable diligence during the trial of the cause and to the effect that the power poles along the fence line

and in place at the time of the trial were in fact originally placed along the old fence line more than 30 years prior to the filing of the complaint, and further that the original poles had been replaced in the same place occupied by the original poles ten to fifteen years before the filing of the complaint; and

- (2) that the judgment and the decree were against the evidence and the law.

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

2. The Court erred in granting plaintiffs' motion to strike both counterclaims No. 1 and No. 2 from defendants' answer and counterclaim.

3. The evidence is insufficient to support the findings of the Court and the findings are contrary to the evidence as follows:

a. As specified in paragraph No. 1 of the findings that "During all times herein mentioned and prior to commencement of this action plaintiffs have been . . . in possession of the following described real property . . ."

b. As specified in paragraph No. 3 of the findings that "On or about the month of October, 1943, the defendants began the construction of a motel and began to erect on the north part of their lot a number of cabins."

- c. As specified in paragraph No. 4 of the findings that "said cabins and sewer pipe line were constructed over into plaintiffs' land notwithstanding the protests of plaintiffs and against their consent; that prior to the commencement of this action plaintiffs have made demands upon the defendants to remove said buildings and sewer line from their premises but although defendants have made many promises to do so, they have refused and neglected to take down and remove the same or any part thereof."
- d. As specified in paragraph No. 5 thereof: "That the said described land of the plaintiffs is of great value . . . and plaintiffs are prevented from using and occupying the whole of their land for such purpose by reason of the intrusion of the buildings and sewer line erected by the defendants and that plaintiffs' land is greatly diminished and the same is made unsalable and the plaintiffs are greatly damaged."
- e. As specified in paragraph No. 7 thereof: "that said fence was located on the legal boundary line separating said two parcels of land belonging to the plaintiffs and the defendants."
- f. The findings and particularly paragraph No. 7 thereof fail to settle the issue of fact as to whether or not the fence line between the parties as existing for more than thirty years by way of the legal boundary was located on the survey line between the parties according to the deed descriptions of the parties or to the northward thereof and whether or not defendants ever encroached over and northward of said fence line.
- g. Paragraph No. 8 of the findings and each and every finding therein.

4. That the findings and conclusions are inconsistent or ambiguous and are insufficient to sustain the judgment and decree herein.

5. That the Court erred in not finding upon the issue and thereafter concluding as a matter of law that as to all construction of defendants north of the deed survey line between the parties, or at least as to all separate construction done or completed prior to 6 May, 1946, one or more of the statutes of limitation were a bar to action thereupon by the plaintiffs.

6. The Court should have granted appellants' motion for a new trial.

7. The findings, conclusions and decree are insufficient, in error and against the law in finding, concluding and decreeing that under the evidence and the law the plaintiffs and respondents are entitled to the possession of all the land described in paragraph No. 1 of the complaint and that a mandatory injunction should issue requiring the defendants and appellants to remove all construction in any way located on such described land rather than to determine and then require defendants to pay to plaintiffs the value of any land encroached upon.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### DOES THE COMPLAINT FAIL TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED?

Part of the Complaint in plain terms and language avers that plaintiffs have been at all times mentioned in said complaint and “prior to commencement of this action” and now are the owners and in possession of all the land claimed by plaintiffs. Based on Par. 1 of their complaint, plaintiffs have no grievance or cause for action against defendants. The paragraph is essential to the complaint because it describes all of the property claimed by plaintiffs in the complaint and sets forth the necessary allegations of ownership and possession to comply with Sections 104-2-5 and 6 U.C.A. 1943.

The allegations in paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 of the complaint are in conflict and do not cure the defect. Further, it is not clear from paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 of the complaint whether the same lot referred to in Par. 1 of the complaint or some other lot of the plaintiffs is being encroached upon by defendants.

## II.

DID THE COURT ERR IN GRANTING PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO STRIKE BOTH COUNTERCLAIMS NO. 1 AND NO. 2 FROM DEFENDANTS' ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM?

Counterclaim No. 1 (page 4 of defendants' answer and counterclaim) is a cause of action for a counter trespass occurring during the same period plaintiffs complain of defendants' trespass and encroachment and arising over the same contested boundary line situation and depends for its determination on the same essential issue as to whether the legal boundary line between the parties is to be located on the old fence line or whether on the survey line delineating the deed description of the properties of the parties. This counterclaim arises out of the identical boundary line dispute and the issues to be determined are almost identical. It would seem clear that the counterclaim is definitely within the purview of Sec. 104-9-2(1) UCA, 1943 and Rules 13(a) and 13(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requiring that the counterclaim arise out of the transaction set forth in the complaint or be connected with the subject of the action and particularly is within Rule 13(b) providing for permissive counterclaims not arising out of the transaction or subject matter of the action stated in the complaint. It is true that the rules of civil procedure were not effective until January of 1950 and that the order striking counterclaim No. 1 was made in July of 1949. However, in view of the intent of the rules that

the widest latitude exist to permit filing of a counterclaim, and this entire action having been treated as an equity action and the appellate court having the power to review the entire record, (Tripp v. Bagley, 74 Utah 57, 276 P. 912, 69 A.L.R. 1417), it would appear that the court should permit defendants' counterclaim No. 1 to be tried in this action upon the occasion of any remittitur for the taking of new or additional evidence.

### III.

#### IS THE EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE FINDINGS OF THE COURT AND ARE THE FINDINGS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE:

a. As specified in Par. 1 of the findings that "During all times herein mentioned and prior to commencement of this action plaintiffs have been in possession of the following described real property . . ."? Plaintiffs' complaint in paragraphs No. 3, 4 and 5 alleges that in fact defendants took wrongful possession of plaintiffs' property by building over onto plaintiffs' property and staying there, thereby preventing use and occupation not only of the area of encroachment but of the whole of the plaintiffs' land. If the plaintiffs during all times mentioned in the complaint were in fact in possession of all of their land, then plaintiffs have nothing to complain of. The plaintiffs complain (paragraphs 3, 4 and 5 of the complaint) that plaintiffs were in fact not in possession of all of their land as claimed in Par. 1 of the complaint since the first day any construction of the defendants was made over the line delineating the

property therein described. (Plaintiffs' Exh. A, Tr. 17, 51). The evidence shows that plaintiffs and their predecessors since 1912 were never in possession of any land south of the old fence line between the parties and that the fence line was located for virtually all of its distance somewhat to the north of the south line of the description in plaintiffs' deed (Pls. Exh. 1, Tr. 44, 63, 82, 135, 139, 140, 146, 147, 148, 150, 151, 154, 156, 159, 173, 174, Defs. Exhibits 16 and 17). It is admitted, however, that plaintiffs were in possession of the great majority of the property called for by their deed. (Tr. 24, 25, Def. Exh. 6, Tr. 33).

b. As specified in paragraph No. 3 of the findings that "On or about the month of October, 1943, the defendants began the construction of a motel and began to erect on the north part of their lot a number of cabins"? The evidence is conclusive on the part of both plaintiffs and defendants and from other witnesses that cabins existed on property of the defendants and along the disputed boundary line since 1928 and that defendants began renovation or remodeling in 1943. There is no evidence whatsoever that in 1943 defendants "began the construction of a motel" and "began to erect . . . a number of cabins." The evidence is, of course, that the motel and cabins had clearly been in existence for fifteen years when defendants began renovation in 1943 and for more than twenty years when plaintiffs filed their complaint in 1949. (Tr. 12, 44-45, 63, 66-67, 68, 171, 180).

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