1950

Mike Dragos and Milka Dragos v. Teddy G. Russell and Manilla Russell : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COMPLAINT STATES A CAUSE OF ACTION.

Appellants' first contention is that they do not believe that the complaint states a cause of action, upon the ground and for the reason that it is alleged in the complaint that prior to the commencement of this action plaintiffs were and are now owners and in possession of

the lands claimed by the plaintiffs. The allegations of the complaint describe the lands by metes and bounds. Plaintiffs further allege that defendants have encroached on a part of their land and want the encroachments removed. These allegations state a cause of action in trespass. The plaintiffs are in possession of all the land that they own, as they have never voluntarily parted with any part of it, and the fact that the defendants have encroached upon a portion of it does not necessarily defeat their right of possession. We do not believe that defendants are serious in the contention that the complaint does not state a cause of action, nor do we believe that the issue has any merit.

POINT II.

THE COURT PROPERLY GRANTED PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS I AND II TO PLAINTIFFS COMPLAINT.

Defendants' counterclaim I and II were actions in tort against the plaintiffs' claim. The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure were not adopted until January 1, 1950, and, therefore, have no application in this case, which was tried in December, 1949. The counterclaims were not permissible under Section 104-9-2 (1), Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as they did not arise out of the same transaction and were counterclaims of a tort against a tort. Such counterclaims have been rightfully stricken upon a motion.

Smith v. Alvord, 31 U. 346, 88 P. 16;
Marks v. Tompkins, 7 U. 421, 27 P. 6.

POINT III.

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT OF THE COURT.

Appellants' contentions III, IV, V and VII attack the findings of the court, the judgment, and the sufficiency of the evidence to support the same.

There is no dispute over the fact that defendants' cabins and sewer line encroach on the land of the plaintiffs. The defendants contend that the old fence, at the point where the defendants began the erection of the new cabins, veered to the north, and that the defendants built the new cabins and sewer line at least six inches away from the imaginary fence. The plaintiffs contend that the destroyed fence had been on the legal boundary line that divided the lands of the parties. The plaintiffs' contention was upheld by their own testimony and the testimony of the witnesses placed on the witness stand in behalf of the defendants.

There are three significant facts that stand out in the evidence that completely answer and defeat the claims of the defendants. They are as follows:

1. The existing fence, beginning from State Street and going west for 150 feet, is on the legal line dividing the lands of the parties.
2. The cabins built by McCabe were three to four feet away from the old fence.

3. The fence was not attached to the telephone pole located about 165 feet away from State Street, but was located approximately eighteen inches to two feet south from the pole.

The defense of adverse possession is an affirmative defense and the burden of proof is upon the party making such defense. The defendants testified that the old fence was nailed on to the telephone pole located about 165 feet west from State Street, and on plaintiffs' land, and that they built their cabins on the old McCabe foundations. Appellants, in their brief at page 5, state:

“In 1928, Edward B. McCabe and Mary McCabe, who then owned the State Tourist Court property, constructed a line of tourist cabins along and against the old fence.”

This is a misstatement of fact. Edward B. McCabe was called as a witness and in reference to this matter testified as follows:

“A Yes, I remember the pole, but it never meant anything to me.

“Q Was that near the fence?

“A If I remember right it is pretty hard to say, but I would say it was about twenty inches north, sixteen to twenty inches north.

“Q How long was that pole line in there, was it in there the entire time you had the property?

“A Yes.” (R. 197)

“Q The telephone pole was not part of the fence, was it?

“A No.” (R. 200)

Hyrum Hendricks, another witness for the defendants, stated in reference to the telephone pole:

“Q It wasn’t part of the fence, was it?

“A No, it would be on the north.” (R. 182)

Mr. Hendricks also testified in reference to the location of the cabins when he stated that the cabins were away from the fence line:

“A Yes, there was cabins then, I don’t know but approximately three feet in between there and then this board fence.

“Q This board fence?

“A I used to get in there and clean it out, maybe two to three times a year for Mr. McCabe, cleaned it out.” (R. 178)

On cross-examination, this witness further testified:

“Q Now, between the fence and the cabins, there was about three feet you would say?

“A I would say approximately three feet. I used to get in behind there and clean them out.

“Q So the cabins weren’t up against the fence?

“A No sir.

“Q They were away from the fence?

“A Yes sir, they were away from the fence, south of the fence.” (R. 181)

C. Earl Alsop, another witness for the defendants, also testified in reference to the location of the cabins, and stated:

“Q How far were the cabins away from the fence?

“A Well, I always figured between two and three feet.” (R. 189)

No witness, whether a former owner of defendants' property or otherwise, has testified that the fence was not on the boundary line; as a matter of fact, all of them testified that they thought the fence was or should be on the line. There is no evidence that at any time there was a dispute between the adjoining owners as to the location of the boundary line, nor was the line in any way uncertain, but was capable of being readily ascertained. There is no evidence that there was any acquiescence on the part of the owners of the respective properties that the fence would be considered the boundary line, if it were established that it was not on the survey line. That being the case, the defendants have no cause to complain with the ruling of the court.

Tripp v. Bagley, 74 U. 57, 269 P. 912;
Willie v. Local Realty Company, 110 U. 523,
 175 P(2) 718.

Under the circumstances, the court was justified in finding and concluding that the defendants be required to remove all of their newly constructed improvements from the plaintiffs' premises. The defendants did not act in a prudent manner in constructing their cabins and sewer lines. They knew at least as early as 1947 when they surveyed the property where their lines were located, but in spite of such knowledge, they continued to build throughout and into the year 1948. (R.

187-8) Defendants, at no time until after the judgment was entered against them, made no contention concerning awarding of damages to cover the value of the portion of the land occupied by the encroachment, but raised this matter for the first time upon appeal. Even had this issue been raised at the trial, the court would be justified in denying them such relief. We do not believe that any court would allow another party to take away his property by such a procedure. The property is located in a commercial district, and is valuable for business purposes.

POINT IV.

PLAINTIFFS' ACTION IS NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Defendants contend that plaintiffs' cause of action is barred by Sections 104-2-5 and 104-2-6 of Utah Code Annotated, 1943. Defendants, however, overlook Section 104-2-12, which reads as follows:

“In no case shall adverse possession be considered established under the provisions of any section of this code, unless it shall be shown that the land has been occupied and claimed for the period of seven years continuously, and that the party, his predecessors and grantors have paid all taxes which have been levied and assessed upon such land according to law.”

The plaintiffs have at all times paid taxes upon their property, and having done so, the statutes of limitations cited by the appellants do not apply. Further, the improvements made by defendants upon the plain-

tiffs' property were in the nature of a continuing trespass or nuisance. Defendants could only prevail if they had these improvements on the plaintiffs' property for more than twenty years, if they held said property adversely to the plaintiffs. There is no evidence on the part of the defendants that they made such a claim.

CONCLUSION

The factual situation surrounding this case is so strongly in favor of the plaintiffs that the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment of the court are more than amply supported by the evidence. Defendants' motion for a new trial was properly overruled. The defendants' argument, presented in their brief, is based upon the false assumption that the fence was located at a different place than where it actually was. The testimony of defendants' own witnesses, and the witnesses of the plaintiffs, and the testimony of the plaintiffs themselves is contrary to this assumption.

We submit that the judgment and decree of the court should be affirmed.